FILED Court of Appeals Division III State of Washington 10/10/2019 3:26 PM No. 36166-7-III FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 10/14/2019 BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

97768-2

## COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION III, OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

KATHIE AND JOE BOYER, individual and the marital community composed thereof,

Petitioners,

v.

KAI MORIMOTO, M.D. individually and PLASTIC SURGERY NORTHWEST, a Washington Corporation,

Respondents.

#### PETITION FOR REVIEW OF KATHIE AND JOE BOYER

E.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE				
	(1)	Factu	al History3		
	(2)	Proce	dural History4		
$\mathbf{F}_{\epsilon}$	ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED6				
	(1)	that T Abser	Court Should Review Division III's Ruling Frial Courts Have No Duty to Apply Burnet at a Motion Showing Good Cause or esting Reconsideration		
		(c)	Deadline Under the Civil Rules		

		(d)	This Court's Guidance Is Necessary to		
			Address Other Opinions Inconsistent with		
			Burnet and to Balance the Competing		
			Objectives of the Civil Rules11		
	w of Division III's Locality Rule Is				
		Warra	nted Because It Upends the Law and		
	Creates a Pointless and Costly Procedural				
		Barrier to Meritorious Medical Negligence Claims13			
		(a)	Division III's Resurrection of the Locality		
			Rule Conflicts with this Court's Decisions13		
		(b)	Division III's Opinion Presents an Important		
			Issue that Should Be Decided by this Court17		
		(c)	Division III's Opinion Conflicts with Its Own		
			Prior Decision		
~	~~~				
G.	CONC	LUSIO	N20		
Appen	dix				

#### TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Page
Table of Cases
Washington Cases
Blair v. TA-Seattle East No. 176, 171 Wn.2d 342,
254 P.3d 797 (2011)
Brown v. Peoples Mortgage Co., 48 Wn. App. 554,
739 P.2d 1188 (1987)12
Burnet v. Spokane Ambulance, 131 Wn.2d 484,
933 P.2d 1036 (1997)passim
Chandler v. Doran Co., 44 Wn.2d 396, 267 P.2d 907 (1954)11
Colorado Structures, Inc. v. Blue Mountain Plaza, LLC,
159 Wn. App. 654, 246 P.3d 835 (2011)12
Curtis Lumber Co. v. Sortor, 83 Wn.2d 764, 522 P.2d 822 (1974)12
Davies v. Holy Family Hosp., 144 Wn. App. 483,
183 P.3d 283 (2008), abrogated on other grounds by
Frausto v. Yakima HMA, LLC, 188 Wn.2d 227,
393 P.3d 776 (2017)12
Dep't of Labor & Indus. v. City of Kennewick, 99 Wn.2d 225,
661 P.2d 133 (1983)11
Douglas v. Bussabarger, 73 Wn.2d 476, 438 P.2d 829 (1968) passim
Driggs v. Howlett, 193 Wn. App. 875, 371 P.3d 61,
review denied, 186 Wn.2n 1007 (2016)18
Elber v. Larson, 142 Wn. App. 243, 173 P.3d 990 (2007)19, 20
Eng v. Klein, 127 Wn. App. 171, 110 P.3d 844 (2005),
review denied, 156 Wn.2d 1006 (2006)18
Frausto v. Yakima HMA, LLC, 188 Wn.2d 227,
393 P.3d 776 (2017)12, 18
Harris v. Robert C. Groth, M.D., Inc., P.S., 99 Wn.2d 438,
663 P.2d 113 (1983)
Helling v. Carey, 83 Wn.2d 514, 519 P.2d 981 (1974)17
Hill v. Sacred Heart Med. Ctr., 143 Wn. App. 438,
177 P.3d 1152 (2008)18
In re Det. of West, 171 Wn.2d 383, 256 P.3d 302 (2011)12
Jones v. City of Seattle, 179 Wn.2d 322, 314 P.3d 380 (2013)1, 6, 8, 9

Keck v. Collins, 181 Wn. App. 67, 325 P.3d 306 (2014),
aff'd on other grounds by 184 Wn.2d 358,
357 P.3d 1080 (2015)6
Keck v. Collins, 184 Wn.2d 358, 57 P.3d 1080 (2015)passim
Loveless v. Yantis, 82 Wn.2d 754, 513 P.2d 1023 (1973)
Mayer v. Sto Indus., Inc., 156 Wn.2d 677, 132 P.3d 115 (2006)1, 7, 12
McKee v. American Home Products, Corp., 113 Wn.2d 701,
782 P.2d 1045 (1989)14
Nicacio v. Yakima Chief Ranches, Inc., 63 Wn.2d 945,
389 P.2d 888 (1964)10, 11
Oltman v. Holland America Line USA, Inc., 163 Wn.2d 236,
178 P.3d 981, cert. denied, 554 U.S. 941 (2008)
Pederson v. Dumouchel, 72 Wn.2d 73, 431 P.2d 973 (1967) passim
Reyes v. Yakima Health District, 191 Wn.2d 79,
419 P.3d 819 (2018)15, 16
State v. Hawkins, 181 Wn.2d 170, 332 P.3d 408 (2014)
Teter v. Deck, 174 Wn.2d 207, 274 P.3d 336 (2012)
Tillotson v. University of Washington, No. 78939-2-I
810 P.2d 4 (1991)
Winkler v. Giddings, 146 Wn. App. 387, 190 P.3d 117 (2008),
review denied, 165 Wn.2d 1034 (2009)18
Statutes
Statutes
RCW 7.70.0402, 14, 16, 19
PCW 7.70.040
RCW 7.70.040(1)
Rules and Regulations
Rules and Regulations
CR 6(b)6, 9, 10
CR 6(d)
CR 12(a)(1)10
CR 56
CR 5910
KCLR 4(j)8
KCLR 26(k)(4)8
RAP 13.4(b)
RAP 13.4(b)(1)
RAP 13.4(b)(2)
RAP 13.4(b)(4)
$\mathbf{K}\mathbf{M} = \mathbf{M} \cdot \mathbf{T}(\mathbf{U})(\mathbf{T}) \cdot \mathbf{M} $

#### A. INTRODUCTION

Division III's published opinion creates new technicalities for summary judgment procedure and for medical negligence claims.

First, Division III read a loophole into this Court's decision in *Keck* v. Collins, 184 Wn.2d 358, 57 P.3d 1080 (2015). In *Keck*, this Court extended *Burnet v. Spokane Ambulance*, 131 Wn.2d 484, 933 P.2d 1036 (1997) to summary judgment proceedings. Despite *Keck*, Division III held that a trial court may skip the *Burnet* analysis for a late-filed declaration, unless the proponent files a motion showing good cause or requesting reconsideration. Op. at 34-35. But in *Jones v. City of Seattle*, 179 Wn.2d 322, 345, 314 P.3d 380 (2013), which Division III did not even cite, this Court held that requiring "good cause' for the late disclosure" improperly "reversed the presumption of admissibility required under *Burnet*." The Court of Appeals has misconstrued *Burnet* many times, leading this Court to grant review many times to clarify when and how *Burnet* applies.<sup>1</sup>

Second, Division III addressed an increasingly common scenario in medical negligence cases as medicine becomes more and more specialized, and as Washington doctors become more and more reluctant to testify in

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> See, e.g., Keck, 184 Wn.2d at 362, 368-69; Jones, 179 Wn.2d at 326-27, 338-55; Teter v. Deck, 174 Wn.2d 207, 218-22, 274 P.3d 336 (2012); Blair v. TA-Seattle East No. 176, 171 Wn.2d 342, 344, 349, 254 P.3d 797 (2011); Mayer v. Sto Industries, Inc., 156 Wn.2d 677, 686-89, 132 P.3d 115 (2006).

support of injured parties. The plaintiffs opposed a summary judgment motion with an out-of-state expert's declaration stating that a nationwide standard of care applied. Division III acknowledged that "[o]ne might question if the standard of care in Washington ever differs from the standard of care throughout the nation." Op. at 14. Still, Division III applied a technical reading of RCW 7.70.040 and affirmed summary judgment. Division III faulted the plaintiff's expert for insufficiently explaining his familiarity with the standard of care in Washington. But this Court long ago rejected such a "locality rule" as an unworkable and unfair artifact of a bygone era when doctors practiced alone in isolated communities. *Pederson v. Dumouchel*, 72 Wn.2d 73, 431 P.2d 973 (1967). Review is warranted.

#### B. IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS

The petitioners are Kathie and Joe Boyer, the appellants below.

#### C. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Division III filed its published opinion in this case on September 10, 2019. The opinion is in the Appendix.

#### D. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- (1) Does the *Burnet* presumption that late-submitted evidence will be considered always apply to a declaration filed late but before a final order granting summary judgment? Or may a trial court instead skip a *Burnet* analysis and simply disregard the declaration if no party files a motion regarding the declaration?
  - (2) Does RCW 7.70.040 permit juries in medical negligence

cases to decide that society expects reasonably prudent doctors in Washington state to abide by the nationwide standard of care in a case's particular circumstances? Or must juries receive detailed expert testimony establishing that Washington doctors already follow the national standard?

#### E. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### (1) Factual History

Dr. Kai Morimoto recommended three surgeries to Kathie Boyer after a consultation. CP 115, 118-19. The three surgeries would take several hours and require Boyer to undergo general anesthesia. And Dr. Morimoto knew that Boyer lived in Montana in a small town over 300 miles away from Dr. Morimoto's clinic in Spokane. CP 59. Still, Dr. Morimoto decided to perform the surgeries on the same day on an outpatient basis.

On the appointed day, the clinic's staff knew Boyer was menstruating and brought tampons for her use. CP 128-131, 170. After Boyer awoke, Boyer went to the bathroom and did not see a string or any other indication of a tampon when she urinated. CP 127. Dr. Morimoto did not inform Boyer that a tampon remained in her body. CP 109. Dr. Morimoto discharged Boyer at 9:30 p.m. CP 77, 109.

Back home in Montana, Boyer suffered from toxic shock syndrome. CP 146, 222. At a regional hospital in Missoula, doctors discovered a tampon deep up against her cervix. CP 122-26. The tampon appeared to have been there for 10 days. CP 146. Boyer required nine surgeries to

address the aftermath, including the amputation of many of her toes.

#### (2) Procedural History

In this lawsuit that followed, the defendants moved for summary judgment on the medical negligence claims of Boyer and her husband. CP 18-19, 24-25. The Boyers timely submitted a declaration by Dr. John Shamoun in response. CP 106-10, 178-90, 290-303. Dr. Shamoun practiced in the same specialty as Dr. Morimoto; Dr. Shamoun was not licensed to practice medicine in Washington, but he had been licensed in six states, including California. CP 293. Dr. Shamoun was also board-certified, and he published several papers in medical journals. CP 297-300. He had testified as an expert in other cases involving the same surgeries. CP 106-07, 297.

Dr. Shamoun explained that the standard of care in this case "is not unique to the State of Washington and applies on a nationwide basis." CP 107. Dr. Shamoun stated that Dr. Morimoto had breached the standard of care by performing all three surgeries on the same day and discharging Kathie Boyer without further observation. CP 108. Dr. Shamoun further stated that Dr. Morimoto breached the standard of care by leaving the tampon in Boyer and not telling her about it. CP 109.

After the motion hearing, the trial court filed a memorandum decision criticizing the "foundation" for Dr. Shamoun's opinion that a national standard applied in Washington. CP 325. The court's memorandum

directed the defendants "to prepare an order granting summary judgment," and both parties to "submit a memorandum setting out their objections and providing facts and law supporting the objection." CP 326. The court set a presentment hearing "without oral argument." *Id*.

The Boyers then filed a supplemental declaration by Dr. Shamoun. CP 327-28. He detailed how he knew that surgeons in Washington follow the national standard of care. *Id.* The Boyers also filed a four-page memorandum objecting to the defendants' proposed order and asking the court to consider the supplemental declaration. CP 336-40. The Boyers argued that the trial court's memorandum decision was not a final order and thus the supplemental declaration was properly before the court. CP 338. They argued also that Dr. Shamoun's declarations each showed the standard of care in Washington was the national standard. CP 338-39.

A month after the Boyers filed the supplemental declaration, the trial court entered a final order granting summary judgment to the defendants. CP 353-55. Despite the Boyers' request, CP 336-37, the order did not list the supplemental declaration of Dr. Shamoun among the filings considered by the trial court. CP 353-54. The order did not cite *Burnet* or explain the grounds for refusing to consider the supplemental declaration. CP 353-55.

On appeal, Division III affirmed the dismissal of the Boyers' claims in a lengthy published opinion. Op. at 1-2, 36. Notwithstanding *Burnet*,

Division III held that a trial court may disregard a late-filed declaration opposing summary judgment if the declaration's proponent does not "file a motion for permission to file late" on a showing of "good cause for extension of the time for filing," or does not "file a motion for reconsideration after a ruling." Op. at 34. The court relied principally on two of its older opinions preceding *Burnet*; on *Keck v. Collins*, 181 Wn. App. 67, 325 P.3d 306 (2014), *aff'd on other grounds by* 184 Wn.2d 358, 357 P.3d 1080 (2015); and on CR 6(b). Op. at 23-35.

#### F. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

(1) This Court Should Review Division III's Ruling that Trial Courts Have No Duty to Apply Burnet Absent a Motion Showing Good Cause or Requesting Reconsideration

"[I]t has been clear since at least 2006 that trial courts must consider the *Burnet* factors before excluding witnesses." *Jones*, 179 Wn.2d at 340. *Every reason* that Division III gave for its new procedural rule conflicts with this Court's decisions and cries out for this Court's review.

(a) <u>Division III's Opinion Conflicts with the Burnet</u> Analysis as It Has Been Expanded in Jones and Keck

"Burnet and its progeny" have established a "presumption" that late-submitted evidence "will be admitted." Jones, 179 Wn.2d at 343. To depart from this presumption, Burnet requires a trial court to make three findings: a "lesser sanction" would be inadequate; the violation was "willful or deliberate;" and the violation "substantially prejudiced" the other party.

Burnet, 131 Wn.2d at 494 (quotations omitted). This Burnet analysis is mandatory before a trial court levies any "severe sanction," including "the exclusion of testimony." Mayer v. Sto Indus., Inc., 156 Wn.2d at 690. Although Burnet first addressed discovery violations, Keck made clear that it applies also to "untimely evidence submitted in response to a summary judgment motion." Keck, 184 Wn.2d at 369.

Division III's decision conflicts with this Court's extension of *Burnet* in *Keck*. Division III perceived a loophole in *Keck*, believing that this Court had "found good cause for the late filing." Op. at 33. In this mistaken belief, Division III found support for its ruling that a late-filed declaration must be accompanied by a motion "complying with some test." Op. at 34. But *Keck* mentioned only briefly, in the statement of the case, that the plaintiffs had filed a motion asking the court to consider the late-filed declaration. 184 Wn.2d at 366. This Court's legal reasoning said nothing about that ancillary procedural fact. *See id.* at 368-69.

Instead, this Court concluded that the *Burnet* analysis was required because of the severe consequences of the trial court's action. The trial court disregarded a supplemental declaration opposing summary judgment. Then the trial court summarily dismissed the plaintiffs' claim because "the remaining affidavits were insufficient to support the contention that the [defendant doctors'] actions fell below the applicable standard of care." As

this Court explained, "[e]ssentially, the court dismissed the plaintiffs' claim because they filed their expert's affidavit late." *Id. Keck*, 184 Wn.2d at 369. This Court found an abuse of discretion, but not because the plaintiff had shown good cause for filing late, and not because this Court independently weighed the *Burnet* factors in the plaintiffs' favor. *Id.* Rather, "the trial court abused its discretion by not considering the *Burnet* factors." *Id.* 

If *Keck* was not clear enough on that point, *Jones* conflicts even more plainly with Division III's new procedural rule. In *Jones*, the trial court applied local rules that "create[d] a presumption that late-disclosed witnesses will be excluded absent 'good cause." *Jones*, 179 Wn.2d at 343 (citing KCLR 4(j), 26(k)(4)). Like those local rules, Division III's ruling permits a trial court to skip a *Burnet* analysis if a late-filed declaration's proponent does not first bring forward a motion showing good cause. Op. at 34. In *Jones*, however, this Court criticized such rules as "inconsistent with the civil rules" and "subordinate to ... *Burnet*." *Id*. at 344. As in *Jones*, here "[t]he appellate court's ruling to the contrary is incorrect." *Id*.

Division III's ruling stemmed from a fundamental misunderstanding of *Burnet*. Division III conceived of *Burnet* as defining when a trial court is allowed to *consider* late-submitted evidence, op. at 34-35, instead of defining when a trial court is allowed to *disregard* it. If Division III's understanding of *Burnet* was correct, its ruling would make more sense. But

Division III has the rule exactly *backward*. It "reversed the presumption of admissibility required under *Burnet*," as in *Jones*, 179 Wn.2d at 345.

Division III's opinion conflicts with this Court's many decisions on the *Burnet* factors.<sup>2</sup> Review is warranted in order for this Court to reaffirm the principles it established in *Burnet/Keck/Jones*. RAP 13.4(b)(1).

(b) <u>Division III's Reliance on CR 6(b) Conflicts with</u>
this Court's Decisions on the Consequences of Not
Meeting a Deadline Under the Civil Rules

Division III construed CR 6(b) as supporting its ruling that a party must "file a motion for permission to file late" in order for a late-submitted declaration to go before the trial court for a *Burnet* analysis. Op. at 34. But CR 6(b) merely provides the procedure for requesting extensions. It might bear on whether a declaration was filed timely or untimely. But CR 6(b) says nothing about the discretion to sanction for untimeliness.

Division III's construction of CR 6(b) clashes with this Court's decisions on other deadlines in the Civil Rules. In *Loveless v. Yantis*, 82 Wn.2d 754, 513 P.2d 1023 (1973), this Court considered a motion served

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Division III faulted the Boyers for not briefing "why the *Burnet* factors apply in [their] favor." Op. at 35. But the Boyers would have been wrong to make such an argument. When an appellate court reviews a trial court's compliance with *Burnet*, the appellate court may not "consider the facts in the first instance as a substitute for the trial court findings that our precedent requires." *Blair*, 171 Wn.2d at 351. And this Court generally does not even remand for the trial court to apply the *Burnet* factors. *Teter*, 174 Wn.2d at 220-21. When reversing a summary judgment order that resulted from a *Burnet* violation, this Court simply remands for a new trial. *Id*.

fewer than five days before the hearing in violation of CR 6(d). Like here, this Court's opinion disclosed no motion for leave to file under CR 6(b). But this Court had little difficulty concluding that CR 6(d)'s deadline "is not jurisdictional." *Loveless*, 82 Wn.2d at 759. In *Oltman v. Holland America Line USA, Inc.*, 163 Wn.2d 236, 243-44, 178 P.3d 981, *cert. denied*, 554 U.S. 941 (2008), this Court considered an affirmative defense pleaded in an answer after the 20-day deadline set in CR 12(a)(1). Like the Boyers, the defendant appeared not to have filed a motion under CR 6(b). Still, this Court held that the affirmative defense was not waived. *Oltman*, 163 Wn.2d at 246-47. These decisions deepen the conflict between this Court's opinions and Division III's published opinion.

(c) <u>Division III's Ruling Conflicts with this Court's Decisions on the Significance of a Trial Court's Memorandum Opinion</u>

Perhaps Division III's new rule would be partially correct if a party submitted evidence after a final judgment or an order granting summary judgment. In that case, CR 59 would seem to require a motion for reconsideration, as Division III contemplated.

But "[a] memorandum opinion is not an order." *Nicacio v. Yakima Chief Ranches, Inc.*, 63 Wn.2d 945, 948, 389 P.2d 888 (1964). Rather, a memorandum decision is "an expression of the court's intention relative to the issue." *Id.* Until entry of a final order, "[t]he issue is not resolved." *Id.* 

This distinction has been—and remains—the rule of this Court.<sup>3</sup>

The trial court's memorandum directed the defendants "to prepare an order granting summary judgment." CP 326. Thus, the memorandum was merely "the then opinion of the court," and it functioned "only as a direction to counsel in preparation of a final order." *Chandler v. Doran Co.*, 44 Wn.2d 396, 400, 267 P.2d 907 (1954). So the Boyers did not seek "reconsideration" or to "reopen the case." Op. at 32. Contrary to Division III's ruling, the case remained open. A motion for reconsideration of a trial court's memorandum decision was premature. *In re Marriage of Tahat*, 182 Wn. App. 655, 673, 334 P.3d 1131 (2014).

In any event, the Boyers filed a memorandum objecting to the defendants' proposed order and urging the court to consider the supplemental declaration. CP 353-55. It was the height of procedural formalism for Division III to insist on a formal motion for reconsideration.

(d) This Court's Guidance Is Necessary to Address
Other Opinions Inconsistent with Burnet and to
Balance the Competing Objectives of the Civil Rules

Review is warranted also because this case presents a recurring issue and thus "an issue of substantial public interest." RAP 13.4(b)(4). Several Court of Appeals decisions before *Keck* reached a conclusion similar to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> See, e.g., State v. Hawkins, 181 Wn.2d 170, 184, 332 P.3d 408 (2014) (citing and applying Nicacio); Dep't of Labor & Indus. v. City of Kennewick, 99 Wn.2d 225, 229-30, 661 P.2d 133 (1983) (same).

Division III's, although Division III did not cite these cases.<sup>4</sup> The bench and bar would benefit from knowing whether these cases remain good law.

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