FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
11/12/2019 8:00 AM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

Supreme Court No. 97768-2 Division III Cause No. 361667

KATHIE and JOE BOYER,

Petitioners,

 \mathbf{V}_{\bullet}

KAI MORIMOTO, M.D., and PLASTIC SURGERY NORTHWEST

Respondents.

RESPONDENTS' BRIEF

James B. King, #8723 Markus W. Louvier, #39319 Evans, Craven & Lackie, P.S. 818 W. Riverside Ave., Ste. 250 Spokane, WA 99201 Attorneys for Respondents

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

VI. ARGUMENT

A. Standard of review.

On appeal of a summary judgment order, the proper standard of review is *de novo*, and thus, the appellate court performs the same inquiry as the trial court. *Lybbert v. Grant Cty.*, *State of Wash.*, 141 Wn.2d 29, 34, 1 P.3d 1124, 1127 (2000). "A court may grant summary judgment if the pleadings, affidavits, and depositions establish that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law." *Id.*

B. Dr. Shamoun's Declaration was untimely and no request was made to consider its contents.

Petitioners argue that the trial court and Court of Appeals failed to follow the *Burnet* factors when it signed the written order granting defendants' motion for summary judgment. First, Petitioners failed to make or preserve any argument concerning the application of *Burnet*. Second, Petitioners wrongly assume that the trial court struck or refused to consider Dr. Shamoun's supplemental declaration. To the contrary, the record is clear that Petitioners *never requested* relief from the trial court. Despite two invitations from the trial court to do so, Petitioners never moved for reconsideration of the Court's summary judgment decision. CP 326, 354.

The trial court was not asked – nor did it – exclude the supplemental Shamoun declaration. *Burnet*, therefore, is inapplicable.

1. Petitioners failed to preserve their Burnet arguments.

The first time Petitioners asserted that the trial court had run afoul of *Burnet* was before the Court of Appeals. In keeping with RAP 2.5(a), the court declined to consider Petitioners' arguments concerning the application of the *Burnet* factors:

On appeal, Kathie Boyer complains that the superior court never applied the *Burnet v. Spokane Ambulance* factors. Nevertheless, Boyer never identified the factors for the superior court, nor asked for their application. The superior court deserved an opportunity to hear this request from Boyer before any appeal. PSNW and Kai Morimoto deserved an opportunity to address the *Burnet* factors and argue against the merits of the supplemental declaration before any appeal. Even on appeal, Boyer has not analyzed why the *Burnet* factors apply in her favor.

We do not review new arguments on appeal. RAP 2.5(a); State v. Nitsch, 100 Wn. App. 512, 519, 997 P.2d 1000 (2000). The prerequisite affords the trial court an opportunity to rule correctly on a matter before it can be presented on appeal. State v. Strine, 176 Wn.2d 742, 749, 293 P.3d 1177 (2013). The rule serves the goal of judicial economy by enabling trial courts to correct mistakes and thereby obviate the needless expense of appellate review and facilitates appellate review by ensuring that a complete record of the issues will be available. Strine, 176 Wn.2d at 749–50; State v. Scott, 110 Wn.2d 682, 685, 757 P.2d 492 (1988).

Bover, 449 P.3d at 300.

Respectfully, this Court should decline to consider Petitioners' arguments where Petitioners failed to adequately develop a record at the trail court level allowing for complete review.

2. Petitioners failed to request relief from the trial court and waived any argument concerning the supplemental declaration of Dr. Shamoun.

In contrast to the procedure here, in *Keck*, the plaintiff filed a supplemental declaration *prior to* the summary judgment hearing, and requested permission to file the late document or a continuance. Here, the Boyers did not seek a continuance, did not ask the trial court to alter the filing requirements of CR 56, did not ask the trial court to re-open the summary judgment record, and did not ask for affirmative relief concerning the supplemental declaration. Petitioners cite no case which requires a trial court to grant relief that is not requested.² Rather, Petitioners simply asked that the trial court's order be modified to include the Errata in Support of Plaintiffs' Response to Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment and the Supplemental Declaration of Dr. Shamoun as matters the court had considered at the April 27, 2018 hearing. CP 336-337. Plaintiffs submitted

² Petitioners generally suggest their objection to Defendants' proposed order "ask[ed] the court to consider the supplemental declaration." *Petition for Review, pg. 5.* Yet, such a request is not contained in their objection. CP 336-340.

a proposed order *granting* Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment. CP 350-352. No competing Order Denying Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment was presented.

The Court of Appeals rejected the notion – advanced by Petitioners – that a trial court is required to grant relief which has not been requested:

One might characterize as overly technical a requirement that the party filing a late affidavit also file a motion for permission to file late or file a motion for reconsideration after a ruling. After all the superior court should have recognized when it presumably saw the supplemental declaration of John Shamoun that Kathie Boyer wanted to file the affidavit late and gain reconsideration of its memorandum decision. Nevertheless, requiring one or more motions to accompany the legitimate declaration serves supplemental purposes. With the motion for late filing, Kathie Boyer would have or at least should have included an affidavit or other support to show good cause for extension of the time for filing. The superior court could then have also determined the applicability of the Burnet v. Spokane Ambulance factors. With the motion for reconsideration, Kathie Boyer would have or at least should have presented argument as to why the supplemental declaration defeated the defendants' summary judgment motion. Without these motions and the motions' support, the superior court lacked a basis on which to determine whether to review the declaration and assess whether the declaration should change the court's decision.

Boyer, 449 P.3d at 300.

In failing to act, Plaintiffs waived any contention that the trial court failed to consider Dr. Shamoun's supplemental declaration. *See, Guile v. Ballard Cmty. Hosp.*, 70 Wn. App. 18, 24–25, 851 P.2d 689 (1993) (because trial court has discretion to dismiss case that fails to raise genuine issues for trial, failure to request continuance under CR 56(f) waives issue on appeal); *Jones v. Hogan*, 56 Wn.2d 23, 27, 351 P.2d 153, 156 (1960) ("Accepting appellants' contentions at face value, we must, nonetheless conclude that appellants' failure to request appropriate relief by the trial court waived any error as to either or both references").

For all of the foregoing reasons, the *Burnet* factors are inapplicable to this case.

C. Division III's application of RCW 7.70.040(1) is in harmony with other divisions and Supreme Court precedent.

RCW 7.70.040 sets out the requisite components of a standard of care claim in a medical negligence case. The statute specifies these elements as follows:

(1) the health care provider failed to exercise that degree of care, skill, and learning expected of a reasonably prudent health care provider in the profession or class to which he belongs, in the State of Washington, acting in the same or similar circumstances; (2) such failure was the proximate cause of the injury complained of.

(emphasis added). It is well settled in the State of Washington that expert testimony is essential in malpractice cases where the plaintiff alleges the defendant violated the standard of care. *Stone v. Sisters of Charity of House of Providence*, 2 Wn. App. 607, 469 P.2d 229 (1970).

1. The statute requires proof of the standard of care in the State of Washington.

Petitioners assert that the so-called "locality rule" was dispensed with by *Douglas v. Bussabarger*, 73 Wn.2d 476, 488–490, 438 P.2d 829 (1968) and/or *Pederson v. Dumouchel*, 72 Wn.2d 73, 431 P.2d 973 (1967). Petitioners' reliance upon two cases from the 1960's is telling. The Medical Malpractice Act (RCW 7.70.010, et seq.) was adopted during the 1975-1976 session. Thus, any precedential value of *Douglas* and *Pederson* was legislatively modified. Scores of appellate and Supreme Court opinions since *Pederson* have recognized that statutory statewide standard of care is alive and well. For example, in *Harris v. Robert C. Groth, M.D., Inc., P.S.*, 99 Wn.2d 438, 663 P.2d 113 (1983), the Washington Supreme Court emphasized that RCW 7.70.040 sets a state standard of care:

The legislative history does, however, indicate an intent to alter existing law in one respect – by limiting those who set the standard of care to healthcare providers within the State of Washington. See, Legislative Report of the 44th 2nd Extraordinary Session 23 (1976). Thus, in attributing to the reasonably prudent healthcare provider the skills and training possessed by

members of the same class or profession (See, RCW 4.24.290; W.Prosser §32, at 162), the trier of fact must consider only those providers within the State of Washington. See, RCW 7.70.040. (emphasis added).

99 Wn.2d at 447, footnote 4 (emphasis added).

In *Adams v. Richland Clinic, Inc., P.S.*, 37 Wn. App. 650, 655, 681 P.2d 1305 (1984), the court characterized the standard of care under RCW 7.70.040(1) as being a "statewide determination," and noted that, to establish a claim for violation of the standard of care, the plaintiff "must present evidence of a statewide standard of care." *Id.* Consistent with the above, the only type of expert competent to testify as to the standard of care required of a practitioner in the State of Washington is an expert who knows the practice and standard of care in Washington. *McKee v. Am. Home Products, Corp.*, 113 Wn.2d 701, 706–07, 782 P.2d 1045 (1989).

In *Winkler v. Giddings*, 146 Wn. App. 387, 190 P.3d 117 (Div. 3 2008) *review denied*, 165 Wn.2d 1034, 203 P.3d 382 (2009), the trial court refused to permit the plaintiff's standard of care expert witness to testify at trial where the expert witness "made an educated assumption" that the standard of care in the State of Washington was the same across the country. The court found that assumption insufficient. The absence of expert witness testimony resulted in a directed verdict for the defense, which was affirmed on appeal.

The Legislature required, in no uncertain terms, that expert witness testimony in medical negligence cases must be based upon the standard of care practiced in Washington.

Left without a legal basis to overturn RCW 7.70.040, Petitioners recite the reasoning of *Pederson* insofar as it discusses "practical difficulties" of the locality rule as it existed prior to the adoption of RCW 7.70.040. What Petitioners ignore is the fact that *Pederson* abrogated a common law rule which was much more strict than RCW 7.70.040. The prior common law rule went community to community or city by city. Thus, the "standard of care" in Tumwater, Washington might be markedly different than the standard of care practiced in Seattle, Washington. Under present day RCW 7.70.040, litigants have the benefit of consulting with expert witnesses statewide, and, assuming an adequate foundation is presented, nationwide.

2. <u>Petitioners failed to provide foundation for Dr. Shamoun's opinions.</u>

Respondents do not dispute the fact that physicians from outside the State of Washington can testify in medical negligence actions. However, as with other requirements, the expert must provide an adequate factual foundation to establish she or he is familiar with the standard of care in the State of Washington. See, ER 104(a); Reyes v. Yakima Health Dist., 191

Wn.2d 79, 86–87, 419 P.3d 819 (2018); Winkler, 146 Wn. App. at 392; Elber v. Larson, 142 Wn. App. 243, 247, 173 P.3d 990 (2007).

Petitioners suggest that *Winkler* cannot be read harmoniously with *Elber*. The Court of Appeals recognized that Petitioners read an isolated sentence in *Elber* and extrapolated its meaning. The court wrote: "And Dr. Meub is familiar with the standard of care in Washington because it is the same everywhere in this country." *Boyer*, 449 P.3d at 293, *quoting Elber*, 142 Wn. App. at 249.

Further, to the extent that *Elber* could be read to be inconsistent with prior precedent, the Court of Appeals cleared up any confusion: "Assuming *Elber v. Larson* allows a nonresident physician to claim familiarity with the Washington standard of care without providing the basis of this familiarity, we deem *Elber* contrary to other Washington decisions. We hold that the expert must provide some underlying support for his opinion that the state standard follows the national standard." *Boyer*, 449 P.3d at 294.

Division III's ruling in this case is consistent with this Court's ruling in *Reyes, supra*, insofar as it requires a plaintiff to particularize the conduct at issue to survive summary judgment. Or, in the words of Justice Owens: "An issue of material fact is genuine if the evidence is sufficient for a reasonable jury to return a verdict for the nonmoving party. *Reyes*, 191

Wn.2d at 86. That inquiry requires more than a summary statement and instead, conclusions must be linked to a factual basis. *Id. at* 87.

In this case, initially, Dr. Shamoun offered only a conclusory statement concerning his familiarity with the standard of care: that it "is not unique to the State of Washington and applies on a nationwide basis." The trial court found that Dr. Shamoun had offered no foundation for this conclusion. CP 325. Critically, Dr. Shamoun provided no explanation in his declaration for how he knew the standard of care for plastic surgeons in Washington, nor did he provide a copy of his curriculum vitae to the trial court explaining his training, education, or experience. CP 322-323, 325 ("Dr. Shamoun states that he attached his 'C.V.' and *it* shows he has "studied, trained, and practiced in a variety of locations throughout the country...No C.V. was attached."). Then, when Dr. Shamoun's Curriculum Vitae arrived *after* the summary judgment hearing, it contained no reference to training, education, or experience in Washington. CP 323.

D. Dr. Shamoun failed to establish medical negligence on the part of non-physician providers.

Finally, The Court of Appeals did not reach the issue of whether Dr. Shamoun's declarations, if taken together, generated an issue of fact. This Court likewise need not decide that issue unless it adopts new law as requested by Petitioners.

Civil Rule 56(e) requires that an expert witness declaration offered in opposition to a summary judgment motion must: "[1] be made on personal knowledge, [2] shall set forth such facts as would be admissible in evidence, and [3] shall show affirmatively that the affiant is competent to testify to the matters stated therein." CR 56(e); McKee, 113 Wn.2d at 706.

In medical malpractice actions, an expert witness must demonstrate that he or she "has sufficient expertise in the relevant specialty." *Young v. Key Pharm., Inc.*, 112 Wn.2d 216, 229, 770 P.2d 182 (1989). The standard of care required of a particular healthcare provider "must be established by the testimony of experts who practice in the same field." *McKee*, 113 Wn.2d at 706. Accordingly, when determining whether an expert is sufficiently qualified to render an opinion and defeat a motion for summary judgment in a medical malpractice action, the court should "examine the record to determine the 'relevant specialty' and whether [the expert and the defendant] practice in the 'same field.'" *Seybold v. Neu*, 105 Wn. App. 666, 679, 19 P.3d 1068 (2001) (quoting *Young*, 112 Wn.2d at 229, and *McKee*, 113 Wn.2d at 706).

Physicians are not categorically prohibited from offering standard of care testimony against non-physician providers. But a physician must offer testimony establishing familiarity with the standard of care applicable to the specific type of provider at issue. In *Hall v. Sacred Heart Med. Ctr.*,

100 Wn. App. 53, 995 P.2d 621 (2000), as amended (Apr. 6, 2000) a physician was permitted to offer standard of care testimony concerning nurses only after providing a foundation concerning his medical training and supervisory experience with nurses.

Dr. Shamoun demonstrated no such familiarity with the standard of care for non-physician providers. Nor did he identify which provider or providers he contended violated the standard of care. Absent such testimony, all claims against non-physician providers were properly dismissed.

1. Dr. Shamoun did not identify the health care providers who he summarily criticized, the standard of care applicable to each health care provider and how each health care provider violated the alleged standard of care.

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